
Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 1 

Summary Minutes 
City of Sedona 

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
City Council Chambers, 102 Roadrunner Drive, Sedona, AZ 

Thursday, December 5, 2017- 3:30 p.m. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, & ROLL CALL  
Chair Losoff called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. and requested roll call. 

 
Roll Call:  
Planning & Zoning Commissioners Present: Chair Marty Losoff, Vice Chair Levin and 
Commissioners Eric Brandt, Kathy Kinsella and Gerhard Mayer. Commissioners Randy Barcus 
Larry Klein were excused.   
 
Staff Present:  James Crowley, Matt Kessler, Adam Langford, Cari Meyer, Ryan Mortillaro, Rob 
Pollock and Donna Puckett 

 
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS & SUMMARY OF CURRENT EVENTS BY COMMISSIONERS & STAFF 

There were no announcements. 
 
3. APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING MINUTES: 

a. September 28, 2017 (WS) 
b. October 12, 2017 (WS) 
c. October 17, 2017 (R) 
d. November 7, 2017 (R) 
 
Chair Losoff indicated that he would entertain a motion for 3 a, b, c, and d. 
 
MOTION:  Vice Chair Levin so moved.  Commissioner Brandt seconded the motion.  VOTE:  
Motion carried five (5) for and zero (0) opposed.  Commissioners Barcus and Klein were 
excused.   

 
4. PUBLIC FORUM: (This is the time for the public to comment on matters not listed on the 

agenda. The Commission may not discuss items that are not specifically identified on the 
agenda. Therefore, pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.01(H), action taken as a result of public 
comment will be limited to directing staff to study the matter, responding to any criticism, or 
scheduling the matter for further consideration and decision at a later date.) 

 
The Chair opened the public forum and, having no requests to speak, closed the public forum. 

 
5. CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS THROUGH PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES:  

a. Discussion/possible action regarding a request for a Conditional Use Permit to operate 
an Open Air Business (Momo’s Kitchen Food Trailer) at 301 N State Route 89A 
(Sacajawea Plaza). The property is zoned General Commercial (C-1) and is located on the 
west side of N State Route 89A, between Jordan Road and Apple Avenue. APN: 401-13-
051A Applicant: Momo’s Korean Cuisine, LLC (Sung Dae Jang) Case Number: PZ17-
00002 (CUP) 

 
Presentation:  Adam Langford stated that Momo’s Korean Cuisine is a business that would like 
to operate at the Sacajawea Plaza in Uptown, so they applied for a Conditional Use Permit.  
Adam then identified the location of the property and described the surrounding area.  He 
pointed out that the Sacajawea Plaza is on the east side of the property with frontage on SR 
89A, and the parking lot is on the west side of the property with frontage on Jordan Road.  The 
Community Plan designation for the property is Commercial and the Zoning is C-1, General 
Commercial; the Plaza is a shopping center.   



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 2 

Adam indicated that because the proposed business is not in a building, it is considered an 
open-air business and is subject to the requirements of the Land Development Code Section 
917, plus it also requires a Conditional Use Permit.  The proposal is for a Korean-style food 
service to be operated out of a trailer, and the proposal is also for modifications to the parking 
lot, signage, and outdoor lighting.   
 
Adam explained the existing configuration of the parking lot, referencing the Sacajawea 
building and Jordan Road, and indicated that where there is an accessible parking space is the 
proposed location of the food trailer, so the applicant is proposing to relocate that accessible 
parking space and those are the parking lot modifications that are being requested.  
 
Adam showed a graphic of the exterior of the trailer and pointed out that signage is proposed in 
several locations on the trailer, and it is more signage that would be allowed, so staff is 
recommending that the sign area be limited to what the Sign Code allows for individual tenants 
in the Uptown area.  Staff reviewed the proposal for compliance with the Code regulations and 
more details of the review are in the Staff Report.  Staff also sent the application to the review 
agencies and received the listed comments. All comments have been addressed or are 
included in the Conditions of Approval.  Public noticing of the proposal was done, the applicant 
provided their Citizen Participation Report, and staff received a couple of comments from the 
public that were provided to the Commission yesterday.  
 
Adam then stated that staff is recommending approval of the Conditional Use Permit, and Cari 
indicated that the applicant would not be presenting, but is available for questions. 
 
Commission’s Questions and Comments: 
Commissioner Kinsella asked for clarification on the staff memo that stated that the trailer 
would occupy 360 sq. ft., but the Letter of Intent to Lease said that it was 216 sq. ft.  Adam 
explained that staff based the measurement on the area in the site plan, and that would include 
the trailer and the queueing area, and that was 360 sq. ft. as opposed to what was in the Letter 
of Intent.   
 
Commissioner Kinsella noted that the recommended length for the Conditional Use Permit is 5 
years, and she wondered if, since this is the first kind of proposal for a food truck, it would be 
possible to go for a shorter period.  Adam indicated yes, staff could entertain a 
recommendation that would recommend a shorter timeframe. The Commissioner then 
referenced the Conditions of Approval and indicated that she didn’t see the parking space 
replacement enumerated.  We are losing one of the public parking spaces and the applicant is 
proposing to reduce the private parking space so the City lease doesn’t lose any of the 
additional parking, so is that enumerated in the Conditions of Approval? Adam Langford 
indicated that it is part of their Letter of Intent, so their proposal would need to comply. Chair 
Losoff asked if Commissioner Kinsella is suggesting that it should be, and Commissioner 
Kinsella stated yes. 
 
Vice Chair Levin indicated that she understands from the Letter of Intent that food is going to be 
prepared offsite, but when the food is delivered to the food truck, it still has to meet certain 
health department standards.  She then asked if that is true and Adam Langford indicated that 
staff will require that any permits or licenses they need through the County Health Department 
be on file with the City.  The Vice Chair then asked if that goes to where it is prepared as well 
as where it is served, and Cari indicated that would be a better question for the applicant.   
 
Applicant’s Representative, Edwin Kim: Mr. Kim indicated that he is Momo’s nephew and he 
will be employed by her to work with her on this business, and everything will be regulated 
within the food trailer itself.  The food will be prepared offsite, because there is not much space 
for storage to keep many things, so most of the food will be prepared, but it will be finished on 
the trailer.  Things that need to be grilled or cooked won’t be prepared from scratch, but it will 
be cooked there.  The Vice Chair explained that she thought it was all coming prepared, and 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 3 

Mr. Kim explained that it is not like they have prepared dishes, when they come to the trailer.  
They are bringing the ingredients that they prepared beforehand.  The Vice Chair then asked if 
they have a commercial kitchen somewhere else, and Mr. Kim stated yes, in Cottonwood.   
 
Commissioner Brandt asked Commissioner Kinsella about her concern with parking, and 
Commissioner Kinsella stated that there is a Lease Agreement for space in that parking lot that 
the City holds to be part of the public parking and, with the placement and reconfiguration, 
there would have been one or two spaces lost.  Adam explained that ultimately two spaces are 
being removed from the site, but private parking will be re-designated as public parking, so the 
total number of public parking spaces isn’t reduced.  Commissioner Brandt then stated that 
there is a certain number of parking spaces in the parking lot, and a certain number are 
required for the building use, and then there is private parking that is designated within that lot. 
Is it right that what is left over is for City use?  
 
Audree Juhlin explained that as she understands it, the parking onsite is twofold, one is the 
parking designation for the uses in Sacajawea and the other is designated as part of the City 
contract for public parking, so the private parking is really associated with the businesses that 
are located onsite.  To further complicate it, the total number of parking, private for the 
businesses or any other for customers plus the contracted spaces for public parking exceeds 
the total required for the Sacajawea businesses.   
 
Commissioner Brandt indicated that is ultimately the situation, so it all pre-dates the City?  Is 
that why there is the private and public parking and building parking?  Usually, you don’t have 
any private parking on a commercial lot. If you take two away, how do you do that?  Audree 
Juhlin suggested looking at the whole site and take away the contracted public parking spaces, 
so we have the number built [41] as part of the parking lot configuration in association with 
Sacajawea.  Their required parking is . . . Adam interjected 27 and Audree indicated around 30 
or a few under, so they do have their required parking.  About two or three years ago, the City 
went to various locations in Uptown about problems with public parking requirements, because 
a lot of locations had private parking for their customers only, so we were able to negotiate 
about 30 contracts with different businesses to open those spaces up and we lease those 
through the contract for public parking.  It is called public and private parking, but the private is 
their required parking.   
 
Commissioner Brandt indicated that he understood that part; he was just trying to figure out 
what private is and Audree stated that is their required parking for their uses.  The 
Commissioner then stated that the Commission should look at this as a trade for -- it is an 
increase in the business use on the property; it is requiring two more spaces and they happen 
to be utilized as public spaces currently.  Cari explained that the public parking contract was 
more to keep people from jumping from one lot to another; they could park in one spot, so 
people weren’t towing, etc., but the required private parking assigned are reserved for the 
employees of businesses on the site, and then the rest of it is open for public use, so someone 
can park there, walk down the street without getting ticketed and towed, because they are in a 
private lot without shopping on the site, and that was the goal of the parking contracts.  
 
Commissioner Brandt then stated that it is two spaces because currently there is just one 
handicap spot where the trailer is going, right? Then, to move that, it is being converted – it 
needs the equivalent of two spaces for an accessible space.   Adam Langford agreed that the 
accessible space takes the equivalent of two spaces, so they are losing the one where the 
trailer is going, and then one  . . .  Chair Losoff interrupted to say that maybe we can get past 
this discussion if we recommend that the Conditions of Approval state that we don’t lose any 
parking spaces; however, Cari clarified public parking spaces.  The Chair stated that what is 
there now stays and Cari again clarified public parking spaces.   
 
Commissioner Brandt acknowledged that he is making this a tough issue, but it is because the 
building is using more than it needs; however, Cari clarified it has more than it needs, but the   



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 4 

Commissioner repeated that it is using more than it needs, so to give up the private spaces, if 
the public isn’t losing any space and we are giving up private spaces that means that they need 
this much, they are using this much, and they are coming down to use this much.  Chair Losoff 
stated that a private space is like ‘reserved for president’, those are just . . . they have to be 
private, but they are designated private by the shop owner or something like that.  
 
Commissioner Brandt then referenced the placement of the trailer and noted that the 
concession windows are to the south.  He then asked if there was any consideration for turning 
it around, so you wouldn’t look at what looks like a delivery van parked there from anywhere 
else, because to the south there is a screen or property line wall.  If you turned it around, the 
concession windows would face out to the parking lot or to the north at least.  Adam Langford 
explained that there may be some concerns with the queueing area being on that side closer to 
the drive aisles, and that would have generated a concern with the concession windows being 
on the north side.  This way, the pedestrians and customers are kind of protected from the 
parking area, and there is also concern about accessibility to the windows and making sure 
there is an accessible area, and that is an accessible area, because it was previously an 
accessible parking spot, so they can easily convert that to an accessible queueing area for 
customers. 
 
Commissioner Brandt asked if, since this is conditional and if it was to go away, since it is a 
trailer, is there anything that they are doing that would prevent putting the handicap spaces 
back where they are to free-up two spaces.  Adam Langford indicated that he doesn’t believe 
anything would prevent that; they would need to obtain a building permit and review it for 
compliance with ADA standards and our parking lot design regulations.  Audree Juhlin 
indicated that is a really good observation and she would recommend that we add that as a 
Condition of Approval that if it does leave, we have them convert it back to its original state.    
 
Commissioner Mayer indicated that the parking thing is a little confusing to him and asked if 
that can be clarified.  We have basically – we are losing two parking spots, because of that 
trailer.  Audree Juhlin stated no, we. . .  Commissioner Mayer interjected that the business is 
losing two parking spots.  Audree stated that they have the required parking, so they are over-
parked.  The Commissioner then indicated that the public is not losing any parking spots, 
because . . .  Audree Juhlin stated that, technically, we are losing two spaces, but we’re not 
using any of the required parking for the businesses or the contract City parking.  
Commissioner Mayer then stated you are losing two parking spots that you pay a lease for, and 
Audree stated no; they are going to be reassigned to other spots onsite.   
 
Commissioner Mayer then referenced the new Sign Code and indicated that what we see on 
the truck exceeds the square footage of a business and asked how that is going to work.  Adam 
again stated that staff has provided a recommendation in the Conditions of Approval that the 
sign area be limited to what would be allowed for other businesses in the Uptown area, so they 
would be required to get a Sign Permit.  The Commissioner then asked Adam to clarify what is 
normally being allowed; does it have to comply with the new Sign Code or not?  Adam 
responded, yes, it would.  The Commissioner then asked if there is going to be outside seating, 
and Adam indicated that the applicant is not proposing any outdoor seating as part of the 
application.  The Commissioner wanted to know about the clean-up and if they are going to 
provide clean-up after the business hours around the trailer.  Adam then asked the applicant’s 
representative if he would like to respond. 
 
Applicant’s Representative Edwin Kim:  Mr. Kim stated, yes, absolutely. 
 
Chair Losoff opened the public comment period and also acknowledged that the Commission 
had received a couple of emails. 
 
Jesse Alexander, Camp Verde, AZ:  Mr. Alexander indicated that he helps run a couple of 
shopping centers in Uptown, and stated that food trucks, in general, add some uniqueness and 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 5 

a good variety to a city; however, it needs to be in the right place.  It appears that we are trying 
to shoehorn this into an area that the parking alone –- are we losing two spots, yes; the public 
is losing two spots.  They have a resort down the hill that he used to run, L’Auberge, and as 
described to him at one time, every morning at 6:00 a.m., all of the L’Auberge employees come 
in and park in Uptown and scurry down to the hotel. It is just two more places that, if it be a 
store inside Sacajawea that has their reserved spot that they won’t have, because we just took 
it away, they are going to park on the street.  There is going to be more congestion; it is just 
creating that in an area where they have been struggling with the congestion and that is why 
they have City contracts with different places, such as his own, where on the other side of the 
street, they have agreements like that.  What is to prevent him from saying he wants a food 
truck; he has extra parking.  He maintains a public area too that is just tables, so is it now his 
responsibility to pick up after the people that leave their stuff there, whether it be in a trash 
container or not, if they leave it on the table, he has to go through and do all of that with his 
stuff.  He doesn’t see any kind of thing -- one of the businesses in one of their shopping 
centers; they just opened up and had to hook up $10,000 to a sewer fee.  There are no limits to 
that kind of stuff; they are still going to use public restrooms he assumes.  Who is going to 
clean those restrooms?  There are a number of things like that that doesn’t make sense in this 
area to create this.  He would love to have – and when he ran Taos or 89 Agave, they thought 
of a taco truck, but it wasn’t something they felt realistically could be done. Those are his 
thoughts; thank you for your time. 
 
Chair Losoff then asked Adam Langford if he wanted to summarize the two emails they 
received.  Adam stated that an email was received from the owners of Oaxaca Restaurant in 
Uptown.  It is a couple of buildings to the north of the proposed location, and they had a list of 
concerns and questions.  He reached out to them and will be discussing their questions in 
greater detail, but essentially, a lot of their concerns have been brought up -- parking, trash, 
and some of answers to the other questions are included in the Staff Report like will taxes be 
collected for the business, so staff feels that we have been able to respond to the questions in 
the Staff Report. 
 
Having no additional requests to speak, Chair Losoff closed the public comment period. 
 
Commission’s Summary Discussion: 
Commissioner Mayer stated that when he listens to food truck versus food trailer; food trailer 
seems to be a permanent institution, not being pulled out after hours or put somewhere else.  If 
you see a food truck, it is usually around businesses and office buildings or at venues, but a 
trailer is a permanent institution, so he is a little concerned about that, especially being in the 
back.  He is also concerned and read the letter from the Oaxaca restaurant.  All the restaurants 
around there, he hasn’t heard or read anything about other restaurants.  He doesn’t know if that 
is necessary to get input from other restaurants and what they think about it or there is also the 
business community in Uptown and what they think about it.  He would like to get some 
comments if that is possible.  Cari pointed out that staff did the public noticing that includes a 
mailing to neighbors, it was in the paper, and it was posted on the site.  You have the 
comments that were received.   
 
Commissioner Brandt stated he is generally in favor of the Conditional Use Permit.  Staff has 
done good due diligence, but he is thinking of Commissioner Kinsella’s thought that the 
timeframe could be shorter, since this is the first of its kind, and it sounds like a great idea, but 
he wonders what all of the implications are – let’s see what happens and perhaps we need a 
shorter timeframe for a review of comments from the neighbors or wherever.  As opposed to 
five years, two to three years perhaps, but maybe we can discuss that amongst the 
Commission; otherwise, he is in agreement with the Conditions as they have been amended.   
 
Chair Losoff indicated that he hadn’t heard anything tonight that dissuades him from approving 
a Conditional Use Permit.  He would be in favor of a shorter timeframe; given the first one we 
are dealing with and given some of the circumstances discussed tonight, five years may be too 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 6 

long.  It is open for discussion as to whether we want to go a year, two or three.  He wants to 
be sure that in the Conditions of Approval the parking thing is taken care of and it is not just up 
for grabs.  He wants to see specifically – maybe staff could show us now what spaces we are 
losing and where we are gaining; what are we trading off?  He wants the Conditions of 
Approval to reflect that, because it is confusing.  He doesn’t think it is an issue, but you can 
clarify by pointing them out specifically.  Adam Langford then pointed out the nine spaces 
reserved for employee parking and indicated that two of the signs for the reserved designation 
will be removed, so there will be seven.  Chair Losoff asked where we will get the other two and 
Adam asked if he meant the other two public parking spaces.  The Chair then said that we are 
losing two, but we are gaining two to be even, so where are the other two coming from? 
 
Audree Juhlin clarified that we are losing two total parking spaces; we are not gaining any 
additional.  We are reallocating the two that we are losing that are dedicated for public parking 
to a different location.  The Chair asked where they are going and Audree indicated that she 
didn’t think we identified specifically where they are going; they just have to be provided onsite 
per the total number in the contract with the City.  The Chair then indicated that he would feel 
comfortable if it was in the Conditions of Approval.  Audree Juhlin explained that we could state 
in the Conditions of Approval that they must meet the required parking as the City contract 
states.  The Chair then stated that the Conditions of Approval also need to address deliveries.  
That parking area is tight; he parks in there a lot when he goes shopping.  If you are going to be 
delivering food from Cottonwood or wherever, does it come in a van or truck? 
 
Mr. Kim stated that they personally won’t be taking up any spots when they work there, 
because they will get rides and it will be coming in a truck or a van; just their personal vehicles 
that they will use for loading and unloading the water, etc., daily.  If you look along the bottom 
row, two of the spaces will be converted to the City’s public parking spaces, and this hasn’t 
been approved with Adam and Cari yet, but Ernie, the property manager, mentioned that he 
wants to make an extra parking space and he feels there is ample space to do that, but that 
has to be reviewed as well.  
 
Chair Losoff indicated that he doesn’t see any strong objection, but again, with some of this 
confusion, and also this is a popular parking lot, and if we take one or two away that is a major 
impact on the community.  We talk about parking all the time in Uptown, so he wouldn’t want to 
leave it to chance; the property owner might or might not add a parking space, we might or 
might not designate two more.  Audree clarified that we will designate two more.  The Chair 
then stated that he wants to see specifics.  He won’t hold it up and will rely on staff for those 
specifics; it has to be done.  Secondly regarding deliveries, that is a tight parking lot, so where 
is the delivery truck going to come in?  Sometimes he has trouble coming in and out, because 
cars are double parked.  There is a lot of traffic in there and he sometimes has to back out and, 
turn around 10 times before he can exit, so how is this going to work with deliveries? 
 
Mr. Kim explained that all of the things that they bring in will be in the mornings before there is 
traffic and before the parking lot is filled, and they don’t plan on restocking throughout the day, 
so they won’t have anybody delivering things.   Chair Losoff asked if that can be a Condition of 
Approval and Adam indicated yes, that can be added.  The Chair then proceeded to say that 
we have heard that in other projects only to find out deliveries are all day long.  He just came 
back from the Hyatt and almost two head-on collisions because of the delivery trucks; he wants 
to make sure that is in there as well.  We talked about trash pick-up; part of the Condition of 
Approval, whether we make it five, three, two or whatever years, will be also making sure the 
trash is collected and everything is picked up as discussed here.   
 
Vice Chair Levin asked about the hours of operation; she recalls reading about the days.  Adam 
stated that it would be Tuesday through Sunday from 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., the Chair then 
asked if they would be in or out at 8:00 a.m. or 9:00 a.m. and Mr. Kim stated yes, possibly even 
earlier.  The Chair then proceeded to say overall not a problem, but those are his concerns and 
if we address them; however, we will rely on staff to follow-up on that. 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 7 

Vice Chair Levin then stated that she would be amenable to tailoring the Conditional Use 
Permit to a term of three years, because it is a new use in the community.  Commissioner 
Kinsella stated that she would actually like to see the approval for a shorter period of time – one 
or two years maximum before they have to come back for renewal.   
 
Commissioner Mayer asked if the delivery truck in the morning is parked on a parking spot until 
you finish business of the day, and then you pick up the waste, water, etc.  Mr. Kim clarified that 
the main deliveries will be made at the commissary in Cottonwood offsite where their main 
commercial kitchen is, and the things that would be delivered will be coming with them, when 
they go to work in the morning – just what they. . . Commissioner Mayer interrupted to say, so 
you are driving your private cars, so your staff is going to park on that parking lot too.  Mr. Kim 
said they will not be parking in that parking lot. 
 
Commissioner Mayer then asked if those delivery trucks or whatever are refrigerated and 
inspected by the health department was well.  Mr. Kim stated yes, the . . . The Commissioner 
again interrupted to say it is of course, from your commercial kitchen to this spot or trailer, a 15 
or 20 minute drive with the food that you have already prepared.  Cari pointed out that that is a 
health department concern and not something we review for, but they are required to have their 
health department permit, so we . . . The Commissioner interrupted to say that is a concern of 
his when the food is not refrigerated and gets there. . . Chair Losoff interjected that the 
Commission’s main concern is if it meets the health codes, that satisfies us. 
 
The Chair then indicated that regarding the length of time, there is a suggestion for not five 
years; he thinks we are all in agreement with that, but there is a suggestion for either three or 
not more than two years.  Commissioner Mayer stated three.  Commissioner Brandt stated two 
or three, whatever staff says.  Audree Juhlin explained that we have the ability to put in a 
Condition to say that anytime we feel there is a problem, we can bring it back to the 
Commission and discuss it.  The process in which we engage in to have the initial request 
considered is lengthy and time consuming, and it costs money.  To come back to extend that is 
also lengthy and costly, so she would want to maybe not going under three years.  If we go at 
two years, we are almost immediately, after one year, right back in this approval process, and 
we haven’t given enough time to work out any issues.  Cari then added that there is the parking 
lot modifications that need to happen and other things, so if you did two years, you might not 
have a long enough time to understand the impacts once they get some of those parking lot 
improvements done.  They are not opening tomorrow due to the changes.  Chair Losoff asked 
how often staff would be looking at it to see if they are meeting the criteria.  Audree Juhlin 
stated that staff can follow up on that; she would still recommend five years, but we could put a 
condition at two-and-a-half years to come in and do a check-up with the Commission and the 
business owners to evaluate how things are going.   
 
Chair Losoff asked, under normal circumstances, whether it is three or five, how often we would 
enforce – check-up to see if they are meeting our Conditions of Approval.  Audree indicated 
that we do have more active code enforcement in Uptown, so it would probably be on a more 
regular basis, probably every few months we would be going by and checking on that.  The 
Chair then commented that we would know pretty soon if there were any issues and Audree 
agreed.  
 
Vice Chair Levin stated that she is going to change her prior response to keep it at five with the 
mandatory two-and-a-half year check.  Commissioner Mayer stated, “Me too.”  Chair Losoff 
indicated that he still liked three and Commissioner Kinsella stated that she liked the shorter 
term, because it brings it back to the Commission at that point for a Conditional Use Permit to 
be renewed.  She then asked if that is correct or is that at the staff level, and Audree explained 
that it always comes back to the Commission for renewal.  Commissioner Kinsella then 
indicated that she would like for it to come back, because then it enables a public hearing, etc., 
so there is a real value to having the Conditional Use Permit be shortened rather than it just 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 8 

being a review point.  It gives the public more of a chance to opine, so she would recommend 
three years.   
 
Chair Losoff then stated that we have three, five, three, five, and he will go with three.  He then 
asked Commissioner Kinsella if she would like to make a motion, and she indicated yes, she 
would like to make a motion to amend the CUP.to a period of three years; however, the Chair 
explained that we are not going to do that just yet; we will come back.  The Chair then asked if 
there was any more discussion on the issue. 
 
Cari then summarized the additional conditions that the Commission had discussed.  First, 
there is a consensus to do a three-year CUP, so we would amend that Condition based on the 
three-year dates instead of five years.  We also have the property owner shall re-designate 
existing private parking spaces as public spaces, so there is no net loss in public parking 
spaces.  Public parking shall be in compliance with the existing contract for public parking. 
Next, if the trailer is no longer on site, the property owner shall restore the parking spaces to the 
site.  Deliveries shall not obstruct traffic flow in the parking lot, and the applicant shall keep the 
area clear of trash and debris.   
 
Commissioner Kinsella asked about limiting the signage and Cari stated that was already 
included in a Condition.  Chair Losoff then stated that he would entertain a motion. 
 
MOTION:  Commissioner Brandt moved for approval of case number PZ17-00002 (CUP), 
Momo’s Korean Food Trailer, based on compliance with all ordinance requirements and 
satisfaction of the Conditional Use Permit findings and applicable Land Development 
Code requirements and the conditions as outlined in the Staff Report and as updated 
this evening.  Commissioner Mayer seconded the motion.  VOTE:  Motion carried five (5) 
for and zero (0) opposed.   Commissioners Barcus and Klein were excused.   
 
The Chair asked when they think they will be up and running, and Adam explained that they still 
have to get the building permits for the electrical lines, etc., and Cari noted that the Commission 
will be updated in the Commission’s Announcement section. 
  

b. Discussion/possible action regarding a request for a Conditional Use Permit to operate 
an Open Air Business (Whole Foods Outdoor Display) at 1420 W State Route 89A (Old 
Marketplace). The property is zoned General Commercial (C-2) and is located on the 
north side of W State Route 89A, between Posse Ground Road and Soldiers Pass Road. 
APN: 408-25-044 Applicant: Whole Foods (Richard Chavez) Case Number: PZ17-00012 
(CUP) 

 
Presentation: Matt Kessler indicated that this is a request for approval of a Conditional Use 
Permit.  He then identified the location of Whole Foods and the surrounding area, and noted it 
is part of the Old MarketPlace shopping center, which sits on the two parcels, with Whole 
Foods entirely on the western parcel.  Matt then presented the site characteristics and indicated 
that the Old MarketPlace was approved in a Development Review in 2001 and the tenant has 
been in operation since 2014. The property is accessed off of SR 89A and zoned C-2, General 
Commercial.  
 
Matt stated that the applicant is proposing three outdoor display areas near the main entrance 
to the store on the western end of the façade. The three displays total 280 sq. ft. and two of 
them are around 100 sq. ft., with a smaller one at 64 sq. ft.  The original application included 
some additional elements that were removed, including some a-frame signage and permanent 
outdoor grills, but in the resubmitted application, the applicant removed those elements, so this 
application is entirely for the outside display areas; however, the applicant will still need to 
apply for a Temporary Use Permit if they wish to continue to have the BBQ fundraiser events 
that they have had in the past.   
 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 9 

Audree Juhlin explained that if the Commission needs to speak with the applicant, he is on his 
way from California and will be here, so if you want to wait, we can move to the next agenda 
item.  Chair Losoff suggested that we keep going and see if we need to. 
 
Matt identified the location of the three outdoor display areas on the western side of the 
supermarket, which are all placed out of the parking lot.  They are not proposing to remove any 
parking for these; they are in the existing pedestrian areas, but have been located out of the 
way of the pedestrian flow.  The smaller one is actually in front of their cart area, so they are 
trying to create a little enclosure there and screen that a little bit.   
 
Staff believes this application meets all of the required findings for a Conditional Use Permit, 
and the applicant completed the required participation plan and received only one comment 
looking for clarification and asking some general questions about the site plan.  Staff completed 
the required noticing and sent the application to reviewing agencies.  We received three 
comments, met with two members of the Vista Montana HOA, and received comments from 
several of the review agencies; however, all of those concerns from the public and the review 
agencies were centered around the grills and the change in use of the outdoor area, which has 
been removed from the application.  Staff didn’t receive any comments related to the outdoor 
displays, so we are recommending approval of the Conditional Use Permit with the conditions 
outlined in the Staff Report. 
 
Chair Losoff asked to see where the seating is going to be again and asked about the traffic 
coming in and out from close to the bank.  Matt indicated that they don’t anticipate any changes 
in traffic due to the location of the proposed areas.  They are all entirely out of the drive aisles.   
 
Commission Questions and Comments: 
Commissioner Brandt asked if the displays are shadow boxes; they are deep, not just 
billboards.  Matt explained that what they are showing is not indicative of what they want to do.  
His understanding is that they will be for seasonal items like pumpkins or watermelons, etc.  
They are not proposing any additional signage with the amended application.  The original one 
did show some a-frame signs that they removed.   
 
Commissioner Kinsella noted that earlier there were some representatives of the Vista Montana 
HOA here, but they left and she wondered if staff could shed light on that.  Matt indicated that 
those were the two members that staff met with when the original application was submitted, 
and they were concerned about the potential noise from the permanent BBQs and potentially 
having more events, and we clarified that they amended their application, so they felt they 
didn’t need to stay, since this was just for the outdoor display areas.  Commissioner Kinsella 
then stated that she wanted to be on the record, because it substantially changed the 
application from what was submitted to what is now before the Commission, so the only item 
that would change with this permission are those display areas and this would have absolutely 
no impact on the amphitheater use.  She then asked if that is correct, and Matt stated that is 
correct; however, Audree Juhlin pointed out that the amphitheater can still be used as approved 
through the Development Review.     
 
Commissioner Kinsella then asked, if there are seasonal items out there like Christmas trees, 
can money change hands at the site of that display or will that change any of that operation.  
Matt indicated that he doesn’t believe that it is their intent to take any money on site; all of the 
items would still be routed to the register inside; that is his understanding of how that will 
operate.  It is just for the display.  Cari Meyer added that if that is a concern, it could be added 
as a Condition of Approval.  Chair Losoff asked if that is an issue and some Commissioners 
indicated no.   
 
The Chair opened the public comment period and, having no requests to speak, closed the 
public comment period. 
 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 10 

Commission’s Summary Discussion: 
Chair Losoff indicated that in the past there has been some concern about noise from outdoor 
events, so if there are outdoor events, do they have to apply for temporary permits?  Audree 
stated not necessarily; in the original approval of the Development Review for the site, the 
conditions for the use of that amphitheater was set in place.  The approvals provided that you 
could have no more than 50 seats and hours of operation from 10:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., she 
believes, and those were the conditions in which they have to operate.  If they go outside of 
those parameters by having more than 50 people or going outside of the timeframe, then they 
need to get . . . Chair Losoff interrupted to say that was a concern expressed by the public at 
the time, so he wanted to make sure we cover ourselves on that.  Cari then clarified that it was 
from 10:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Brandt commented that related to the amphitheater and the times he has sat 
there and enjoyed music, and thinking about the neighbors who were complaining, if it was to 
come up again where they would be proposing something special there, perhaps they could 
build or continue the backdrop to the stage, so that it closes off sound, and then perhaps they 
could even put like a shed roof over it, so it would be like a band shell to get the sound directed 
away.  There could be a win-win situation there; it would be nice to see music there again.  
Audree Juhlin explained that is not on the agenda tonight, so we can’t talk about it.  
 
Chair Losoff noted that if this gets approved and there are complaints, these could be 
addressed further.  Audree Juhlin indicated that as talked about in the last discussion, the Land 
Development Code has provisions for any issues such as code or Conditions of Approval 
violations, so we can immediately suspend or revoke or bring it back to the Commission at any 
given time if we see an issue; we have that ability.  Chair Losoff then stated that those hours 
will help; we talked about it last time that those hours would be pretty good and if the applicant 
meets those hours, the noise issue would be minimized; however, Cari clarified that that is not 
about the outdoor display areas that are on the agenda tonight, and the Chair then stated that 
he would entertain a motion.  
   
Motion: Commissioner Mayer moved for approval of case number PZ17-000012 (CUP), 
Whole Foods Outdoor Display, based on compliance with all ordinance requirements 
and satisfaction of Conditional Use Permit findings and applicable Land Development 
Code requirements and the conditions as outlined in the Staff Report.  Vice Chair Levin 
seconded the motion.  VOTE: Motion carried five (5) for and zero (0) opposed.  
Commissioners Barcus and Klein were excused.   
 
Vice Chair Levin indicated that she was impressed by the Associate Planners’ presentations by 
both Matt and Adam; it is nice to see them here doing that.  

 
6. Discussion/possible action regarding proposed changes to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s Operating Rules and Procedures. 
 

Audree Juhlin indicated that she really didn’t have a presentation; she wanted to open this up for 
discussion.  The biggest change outside of housekeeping and bringing some items up to date with 
more current practices is the Commission’s schedule.  The reason for the change in the schedule 
has been discussed for about a year. This time last year, Commissioners asked for this to be 
placed on the agenda, and we just didn’t have time to get it on.  This is the soonest we’ve been 
able to bring it forward, but at a staff level, we were basically charged by the Commission and some 
Councilors to look at ways to make the time commitment more manageable.  Right now, you are 
committed through public hearings and work sessions to 48 weeks out of the year, which is most 
every week of the year and leaving no down time unless we have a cancellation or light calendar.  
When recruiting, that is problematic.  We have a number of people who come forward and they are 
excited and enthusiastic, but then they realize that every week they have a commitment to the 
Commission, and they say that is just too much of a time commitment, so we struggle with filling the 
vacant positions when they become available, and she hears from seated Commissioners that it is   



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 11 

difficult to plan vacations, because every week is really a committed week whether we have a work 
session or a public hearing, and we don’t usually know in advance when we are going to cancel a 
meeting, so that was the charge from the Commission -- to look at ways to streamline our process 
while still being effective and having a number of meetings that meet our workload, but provide 
more downtime for the Commission to have a personal life, and she really respects that need.   
 
Audree stated that we looked at a number of communities throughout Arizona, and our Staff Report 
provides a little table.  There was not one community, and she didn’t include all of the communities, 
because it would have been too much information, but there wasn’t one community in the State of 
Arizona that meets four times a month.  We take the prize for that; she doesn’t know if that is a 
good thing, but most meet twice and several large ones meet once a month, and they are able to 
conduct their business.   
 
Audree explained that staff is proposing, similar to other communities, to have a work session in 
advance on the same day of the public hearing, so you have the work session first, and then go into 
the public hearing item.  When you have the work session first, it wouldn’t be for your following 
public hearing meeting necessarily, it would be for the meeting two or four weeks out, but it gives 
you sufficient time to provide comments for staff and the applicant to react.  Now, we have from 
Thursday to Tuesday, which leaves very little time to address comments and concerns, so we are 
proposing to have at least a two-week timeframe between the work session and the public hearing.  
Although the work session and public hearing would be in one day, they wouldn’t be related that 
way, so that is the proposal on the table.   
 
Commission’s Summary Discussion:   
Commissioner Mayer asked if you have two items on the agenda for the work session, are you 
saying that we have two work sessions prior to the public hearing two weeks down the road.  If both 
items on the agenda require a work session, is that going to be a work session on one day for both 
of them?  Audree Juhlin explained that what we would be proposing is if today was a work session 
and we started the meeting early with two items on it, the following public hearing for them would 
not be that same day, it would be two or four weeks out from that work session. The Commissioner 
then stated that sometimes we have two work sessions, and they could be hours or short, so what 
is the timeframe you would allow for those work sessions?  Audree Juhlin stated that staff is 
proposing a start time of 3:30 p.m. for the work session followed by a 5:30 p.m. public hearing on 
the same day.  Commissioner Mayer then asked what will be provided for holding over, and Audree 
stated that typically work sessions last an hour or hour-and-a-half; rarely do we go two hours. 
 
Chair Losoff stated that if for some reason we don’t finish, we can always call a special meeting or 
continue it to a following meeting.  There is nothing that says it has to be done in that session.  Vice 
Chair Levin asked if it would also be true that not every agenda item requires a work session.  
Audree stated, very few.  The Vice Chair then asked if staff analyzed that and Audree stated 
absolutely, for example, the two tonight did not require a work session.   
 
Chair Losoff indicated that it is also part of managing the meetings.  Most work sessions can be 
done in a couple of hours, and if not, it would be from too much duplication or micromanaging or the 
project is too complicated for a two-hour session, so he thinks we could deal with that. 
 
The Vice Chair then asked how many work sessions we had in 2017, and Audree stated six out of 
24, and Commissioner Mayer stated that is not much.  The Chair then noted the previous 
comments that the work session would not be for the public meeting that follows, although Audree 
pointed out that there could be an occasion where that could happen if there were a number of 
questions that come up before, rather than take them up in the public hearing.  Vice Chair Levin 
added that with some developments, we have had more than one work session with the same 
applicant.   
 
Commissioner Brandt asked if the venue would change from work session to public hearing, and 
Audree explained that they would propose that all of them be held in Council Chambers and it 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 12 

would still be the first and third Tuesdays of the month in this room, but all of the meetings would be 
in this room, unless it is not available.   
 
Chair Losoff summarized that we are eliminating two meetings a month, going to only two meetings 
a month starting at 3:30 p.m. going to 5:30 p.m., and then 5:30 p.m. to whatever, based on the 
agenda, but there could be more based on circumstances, etc.  Audree added that in this scenario 
you would have 24 meetings a year, and we’ve only had 20 meetings this year counting tonight, so 
the proposal is really in line with what we are actually doing. 
 
Chair Losoff indicated that of all the issues raised for making changes, the one that is most 
important is the time it saves for staff.  He knows what it is like to get ready for meetings, and then 
to get ready after meetings with minutes, etc.; it takes a lot of time, so four versus two will be a lot of 
savings on your end, which is important for all of us and makes us a lot more efficient.  Also, we 
need to become more efficient too if we are going to have two hours for one meeting and two or 
more for the other.  With some of the issues and questions we ask, we could probably minimize 
some of the time by doing some work ahead of time or . . ., well, we will talk about it at the retreat.   
 
Vice Chair Levin indicated that she doesn’t think it reduces staff time, because they still prepare for 
the same four issues, and from a staff perspective, it eliminates a meeting date, but it doesn’t 
eliminate meeting preparation.  In fact, she thinks it is harder to prepare for both a work session and 
a full agenda.  Chair Losoff recalled that years ago, a consultant studied all of our meetings, and we 
had people who didn’t do their job; they went to meetings and had meetings upon meetings, and it 
was ridiculous, and the meeting was about the meeting they had before.   
 
The Chair then asked about attendance, Article 1 - Membership, and Audree indicated that staff did 
add some language in 1.2, but it is primarily the 1988-06 Ordinance that was the enabling 
ordinance for the Commission, so this is really coming from that and plopped into here, so we don’t 
have two places in which we are looking at attendance and membership information.  The existing 
language in the original ordinance says that you may be removed for failure to attend three 
successive unexcused meetings, and next, it says that you may also be removed at any time for 
inefficiency, neglect of duty, and that would include if your attendance is such that it is no longer 
being productive or it is detrimental to the workload of the Commission by not having a quorum, 
etc., then you could be removed at that time as well.  
 
Vice Chair Levin asked if that is what the second part of the phrase means, “. . . or the number of 
meetings necessary to be efficient”, and Audree Juhlin stated yes.  The Vice Chair stated that it is 
kind of vague, and Audree stated that is what the Attorney’s office has recommended we include, 
but it is based on the original language and is consistent with that enabling language.  You can 
make recommendations to provide less vagueness, and we can take that forward to the City 
Council.  
 
Chair Losoff stated we also use the word ‘unexcused’, but to him an absence is an absence; a 
person could be excused five times and if there has been seven meetings that is still a problem, so 
to him it is not necessarily excused or unexcused; there could be a legitimate reason for missing a 
meeting; of course; you could have back surgery and be out for three months and you lose 
effectiveness perhaps, so it is not necessarily excused or unexcused; it is sometimes the number of 
meetings that a person misses.  In the course of a year, if we have 15 meetings and an individual 
misses half, is that a problem?  We don’t say that any place; we just talk about three unexcused 
and as Vice Chair Levin referenced, 1.3 is kind of vague, so could it be more specific somewhere?  
Audree indicated that the Commission can, and if you want to get more specific in the last sentence 
of 1.2, that says or the number of meetings to be efficient in their duties.   
 
Vice Chair Levin stated that she can see why the vagueness is there.  It gives discretion and that is 
a good thing for monitoring the Commission members’ attendance.  Commissioner Kinsella 
indicated that she agreed with Vice Chair Levin, and Commissioner Brandt stated that he agreed 
with both Vice Chair Levin and Commissioner Kinsella.   



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 13 

Commissioner Mayer stated that he has a question in regards of his profession.  He is a general 
contractor and he has clients that are an hour-and-a-half away from a dirt road, and from there, he 
cannot tell when he leaves or when he has a flat tire, because he had like five flat tires, and he 
cannot call from there; there is no reception, so what shall he do?  It is not a foreseen event that 
prevents him from participating, so his business doesn’t; it isn’t flexible, it is not an office job where 
he sits there and he is not retired either, so you tell him what is best to do.  Audree Juhlin indicated 
that what staff tells all Commissioners, and she usually meets with most of them beforehand, is that 
this comes with a time commitment, so are you at a place if your life that allows for you to have the 
schedule.  It takes time to get prepared for the meetings, so you have to have time to prepare, read 
the materials and come to the meetings aware of the topics on the agenda.  In addition to the time 
commitment of actually sitting in the seat and performing your duties as a Commissioner that’s 
extremely important, so she tries to make all Commissioners or potential applicants aware of the 
commitment, and if you have a job, she would recommend that if it is going to interfere with your 
ability to . . .  Commissioner Mayer interrupted to say this is not all the time, and Audree agreed, but 
stated that is what she would recommend to anybody – to consider your life situation and how that 
impacts your ability to  be prepared and attend the meetings.   
 
Chair Losoff noted that it asks on the application if you can commit to the time, and we talk about 
the commitment, hours, etc..  One applicant said, “I can’t do that” in the interview process, who got 
past the initial screening, and after we spelled out the number of meetings, that applicant was still 
working and had other commitments outside of the City and state, and could not make it to all of the 
meetings, and asked if it would be alright to just attend some of the meetings.  He doesn’t’ think that 
went over well in the interview; you just have to decide if the commitment is there or if there are 
other things involved.  Another individual who was interviewed had some health problems in the 
family and excused himself from consideration, because of that, so it all depends on each 
circumstance.  There is no cookie cutter or one shoe fits all, because everybody is different.   
 
Commissioner Mayer asked if you don’t want a cross cut through the demographic of Sedona that 
you have to have different -- rather than just retirees or people who have a one single-person 
business.  Vice Chair Levin stated absolutely, and Rob Pollock pointed out that we are just talking 
about the procedures at the moment.   If we get too far off on certain demographics, etc. . . . . The 
Commissioner said no, he is saying that if you just want retirees on here and not a cut through the 
demographics of the people of Sedona, you are going to have a limited ability of judgment or at 
least recommendation to the City Council.  Audree Juhlin stated that one thing the Commission 
could do is look at the hours; you could start later.  You don’t have to start at 3:30 p.m. in the day; 
you could start at 5:30 p.m. . . .  Commissioner Mayer interrupted to say that is a problem for him.   
 
Chair Losoff indicated that at this point, we are talking about rules and regulations, attendance, and 
we aren’t necessarily talking about criteria for selection, so let’s leave it at this.  We know what they 
are and certainly as an applicant comes forward, they are aware of these rules and regulations.  If 
they cannot meet them and it becomes a problem, and if we find we are not getting enough 
applications for these reasons, then it is another issue.   
 
Vice Chair Levin asked if the Commission could address that concern at the retreat -- if starting 
later would enable the City to have a larger hiring pool.  Chair Losoff stated that we can, but he is 
not sure it has been a problem over the years, we’ve had members on the Commission who were 
full-time employees.  Vice Chair Levin stated alright and indicated that she would leave that for staff 
to decide. The Chair then added that when he came on the Commission, John Griffin was a 
contractor full-time and there were others.  Periodically there were problems, no question about it, 
but . . . Vice Chair Levin then stated okay, so noted.  The Chair added that if we want to bring some 
stuff up for the retreat, let Audree know, but under operating rules, this doesn’t talk about – it says 
removal pursuant to the above authority, so who does the actual removal, and Audree stated the 
City Council.  The Chair then asked if that should be stated some place, and Vice Chair Levin 
indicated that 1.4 should explain the process for a removal – who is involved in the decision, and 
could this happen before the term limit is up?   Audree stated yes, and the Vice Chair stated that is 
also pretty vague.  Audree pointed out that is says a member may also be removed at any time for 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 14 

inefficiency, neglect of duty . . . Commissioner Kinsella interrupted to ask if she could just add, by 
the City Council, and Audree indicated that she did put that there.   
 
Vice Chair Levin then wanted examples of inefficiency, neglect of duty and malfeasance, and 
Audree indicated Commissioners who aren’t prepared or making decisions based on not factual 
information, who perhaps are not following the rules and regulations in which your authority comes 
from, if you are making decisions outside of that.  You don’t like this regulation, so you are going to 
make a decision based on your own personal bias or opinion.  The Vice Chair stated that seems 
more like unpreparedness or lack of objectivity, that doesn’t sound like . . . and Audree interjected 
that is inefficiency.  The Vice Chair then asked if that is what you would call inefficient, and Audree 
stated yes, and we will be talking about that at the retreat.   
 
The Vice Chair then asked about neglect of duty; that is kind of a legal term and Audree stated that 
to her that is if you are out in the public and you are not remembering that you are a representative 
of the Commission and you are being neglectful in your responsibility and your duties essentially.  
The Vice Chair then asked about malfeasance and Chair Losoff noted that the Supreme Court has 
heard some issues and they say you know it when you see it. The Vice Chair then stated that 
malfeasance is really bad deeds and Commissioner Kinsella asked if it doesn’t include intent, and 
Audree indicated that she thinks it does.  Rob stated that he is not sure about that, but he can look 
into it. 
 
Chair Losoff indicated that the more liberal the statement is the better.  If we start to list specific 
items, then we are  . . . Rob added that you are kind of trapping yourself. The Vice Chair agreed 
and indicated that she just wanted to understand what the words meant, and Audree commented, 
so does she now; the definition is wrongdoing, especially by a public official.   The Chair noted that 
later on there is an article about conduct, and there is a handbook that talks about conduct both in 
public and on the dais, so things like that would fall into it.          
 
Commissioner Kinsella stated that the handbook is specifically referenced; however, she got a City 
Council Handbook; she doesn’t have a copy of that.  Audree Juhlin indicated that she should have 
gotten it when she took the oath, but the Commissioner stated that she was given the City Council 
one. Audree Juhlin indicated that she would print a copy for the Commissioner.   
 
Vice Chair Levin noted that the handbook is referenced in here, so we have a segue, and she then 
referenced page 99 or page four of the proposed regulations.  Under the 9.4 language that has 
been stricken, it defines what the public would do – address questions, comments, requests for 
additional information, and she is wondering if that shouldn’t go up into. . ., she should have said 
the new 9.47 that contains that language that was omitted in 9.4.  It helps describe the purpose of a 
work session, and she would suggest that staff add back that line, “. . . to address questions, 
comments, requests for additional information, and she would put it after “Such meetings”.  Audree 
then asked if only that section that says to address questions, comments. . ., and the Vice Chair 
indicated yes, she would insert it right there – and shall be held.  Audree Juhlin asked if she is 
saying move it to the new 9.4 and the Vice Chair stated yes, it is important to define the purpose of 
the work session. 
 
Vice Chair Levin then referenced 9.12 and noted that it uses the term ‘testimony’, which slants it 
toward a legal proceeding, so she thinks it should be referred to as public comments, and that 
would be consistent with Article 12 and 15.d below, so she would suggest changing ‘testimony’ to 
‘public comments’, since that is what we are doing. Under Article 13, 13.2, she didn’t know if an 
abstention is a failure to vote.  She then read that section, and the Chair stated yes, an abstention 
is no.  The Vice Chair also wanted to know under Article 14.1 if it should mirror the same language 
that is in 9.1 and include the rules and procedures.  She then read, “Commission members shall 
follow the provisions of the handbook and the City provisions and the Arizona State Law.  In 9.1, we 
say our meetings, and she thinks meetings and membership are one and the same, shall be held in 
full compliance with the provisions of the Arizona Open Meeting Law and the Commission’s 
handbook and these operating rules and procedures.  She thinks they should read the same. 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 15 

Vice Chair Levin referenced ex parte contacts and asked why we are eliminating the first sentence 
in 14.3.  Why don’t we want to say something about ex parte contacts; it is an important concept.  
Audree Juhlin agreed and pointed out that it is covered in the Commission Handbook, and we are 
trying to eliminate duplicity.  The Vice Chair then asked if staff considered emails to Commissioners 
from the public and how that should be handled; is that in the Handbook?  Audree stated that we do 
discuss that, but we could talk about that topic at the retreat – is the Handbook as it is currently 
written – she wants to say that we put it together about 10 to 12 years ago, so looking at that and 
making sure it addresses new technology and is up-to-date would be very appropriate.  The Vice 
Chair then indicated that for the very first time, she received email on the last set of meetings, and 
she just kind of used common sense; it was about the wireless amendment.    
 
Under Article 15.e, the Vice Chair stated that it says that our public hearing should be guided by 
this format.  Open to comments from the public in support or opposition, and she thought that was 
very specific language.  She wondered if it is staff’s expectation that this language is necessary, 
because not all comments are limited to pro and con.  Some people offer studies, reports, etc., so 
do we need to characterize when we open it to the public that we expect a pro or a con comment.  
Audree Juhlin stated no; we do want to include language that it has to be relative to the agenda 
item, but we don’t have to be specific.  The Vice Chair stated that it is a little too pointed for her for 
our expectations.  Audree indicated that if the rest of the Commission agrees that is something, we 
can modify.  Chair Losoff indicated that it is fine the way it is; he doesn’t see a problem with it.  
Donna Puckett added that the language may have come from the Arizona Statute’s guidelines for 
minutes, and Rob indicated that he would check on that. The Vice Chair indicated that if it is, then it 
should stay, but otherwise, she would make it more vague.  Audree Juhlin suggested saying open 
to comments from the public including support or opposition, and the Vice Chair agreed if the 
statute includes that language, but if not, she wouldn’t.   
 
Chair Losoff referenced Article 14 where Vice Chair Levin had some issues, and indicated that he 
personally would like to see all of the numbers stay in.  It may be in the Handbook, but when we 
talk about Commissioners and malfeasance, etc., these are the things we could relate to 
specifically, and ex parte particularly.  These are very basic Commission conduct issues, and he 
would like to see them spelled out in our operating rules and procedures.  Audree Juhlin then 
indicated that if the Commission agrees, she would mirror that and the expectation is then that the 
Commission will use these.  The problem runs when we make a change here, we have to 
remember to make a change there to make it consistent.  The Chair then stated that he doesn’t 
know which handbook we are talking about, but the one he has is about 20 years old, so he would 
rather see the change here, and then go back and revise the handbook.  We even have a new 
member who doesn’t have it, so he would like to see it stay in here if that is okay with everybody.   
 
Vice Chair Levin stated that it is important enough that it bears repetition, and Audree indicated that 
staff can do that if the Commission gives staff that direction. 
 
Commissioner Brandt pointed out a typo in the second line of 2.2 on page 1, “. . . shall elect and 
acting Chair”, should be “. . . an acting Chair”.  Also, he was curious about 10.4 under Quorum and 
Voting.  He was surprised to read where it says, “However, any action may be reconsidered if a 
motion to reconsider, made by a member who voted in the affirmative, is passed.” The 
Commissioner then asked if that is part of Robert’s Rules that it can only be someone who voted . . 
., and Audree stated yes.    
 
Commissioner Brandt then referenced Article 15.g, and indicated that it seems that it should be 
discussion and additional questions, because that is the first time that the board should discuss a 
situation after public participation.  Vice Chair Levin agreed.  
 
Commissioner Mayer asked if we should have a full house discussing this; two Commissioners are 
missing.  Audree pointed out that goes to the efficiencies of the Commission and the importance of 
attendance.  If we have to wait to have discussions and take action until we have a full quorum, we 
are being ineffective with our time.   The Commissioner then asked if staff thinks that since we have 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 16 

a quorum, it is going to be okay, and Audree explained that is the point of having requirements for a 
quorum, so you are able to take action in the absence of other members.  Commissioner Mayer 
stated that he was just asking, because two are missing.   
 
Commissioner Brandt then asked if all P&Z boards have seven members, and Audree indicated for 
the most part.  When she was looking at the other communities, they had seven, but some of the 
larger jurisdictions have more members, maybe up to 12.  The Commissioner then asked if they 
have alternates, and Audree explained that they have kind of like Council members where you have 
areas that you are assigned to like the east side, west side, etc., or districts, but none of them had 
alternates.  Commissioner Mayer asked if they are all volunteers or if some get paid, and Audree 
indicated they are all volunteers. 
 
Audree referenced the Planning & Zoning Commission Handbook and clarified that it does not have 
it, so it is the City Council Handbook that refers to ex parte and those types of issues.  Chair Losoff 
stated that he would use this more as an orientation for all members rather than the Handbook that 
needs to be revised.  Audree Juhlin indicated that with the Commission’s direction, staff will update 
that to be reflective . . .; however, the Vice Chair interrupted to say that the Handbook actually is at 
a different elevation; the kind of information that provides what your role is as a public servant, etc.  
Audree then stated that staff will mirror what the City Council’s says, because it is applicable to the 
Commission too.   
 
Chair Losoff closed the discussion and asked Audree if she had enough information, and Audree 
indicated yes, if the Commission wants to take action that would be super.  The Vice Chair asked if 
there is a recommended motion, and Audree indicated no, but if the Commission wants to take 
action, it would be to recommend approval of the operating rules and procedures for the Planning & 
Zoning Commission as modified tonight and as presented in the Staff Report. 
 
MOTION:  Vice Chair Levin so moved.  Commissioner Mayer seconded the motion.  VOTE:  
Motion carried five (5) for and zero (0) opposed.  Commissioners Barcus and Klein were 
excused.  

 
7. FUTURE MEETING DATES AND AGENDA ITEMS 

a. Thursday, December 14, 2017; 3:30 pm (Work Session) 
b. Tuesday, December 19, 2017; 5:30 pm (Public Hearing) 
c. Thursday, December 28, 2017; 3:30 pm (Work Session) 
d. Tuesday, January 2, 2018; 5:30 pm (Public Hearing) 
e. Tuesday, January 9, 2018; 10:00 am (Retreat) 
 
Audree Juhlin announced that for the rest of December, the Commission is on holiday, so enjoy life, 
because in the new year, we are going to get busy.  January 2

nd
, Vice Chair Levin’s birthday, we 

are canceling the meeting in honor of her birthday.  On January 9
th
, we will have the retreat at 10:00 

a.m. in Schnebly Conference Room and lunch will be provided.  The next meeting is the 
continuation of Land Development Code on January 16th, and we will start at 3:30 p.m. in this 
room.  We will be discussing the draft that we just handed out last week, and getting your input to 
the whole process, and then moving that forward through the consultants.  We also have a 
Conditional Use Permit for the charter school in Kachina on January 16

th
 at 5:30 p.m.   

 
Chair Losoff indicated that if any Commissioners have suggestions for the retreat agenda, pass 
them on to Audree.  Commissioner Kinsella asked if there have been preliminary meetings on the 
CUP for the charter school and Audree Juhlin stated not with the Commission, usually with a 
Conditional Use Permit you only have one meeting, and this will be amending their existing 
Conditional Use Permit. 
 

8. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
If an Executive Session is necessary, it will be held in the Vultee Conference Room at 106 
Roadrunner Drive. Upon a public majority vote of the members constituting a quorum, the 



Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting 
December 5, 2017 

Page 17 

Planning and Zoning Commission may hold an Executive Session that is not open to the 
public for the following purposes: 
a. To consult with legal counsel for advice on matters listed on this agenda per A.R.S. § 38-

431.03(A)(3). 
b. Return to open session. Discussion/possible action on executive session items.  

 
No Executive Session was held.  

 
9.  ADJOURNMENT 

Chair Losoff called for adjournment at 7:04 p.m., without objection. 
 
 

I certify that the above is a true and correct summary of the meeting of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission held on December 5, 2017 
 
 
 
_____________________________________                  ___________________________________ 
Donna A. S. Puckett, Administrative Assistant                  Date 
 


